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ChairpersOn / CeO’s speeCh

2010/11 was a year of the high commodity prices crisis.  

Cotton prices rose to as high as UsD230 per ton in the third 

quarter (compared to UsD83 in June 2010 and UsD65 in 

June 2009) before retracing downwards.  The causes were 

weather disruption in cotton producing countries - flooding 

in Pakistan and China; increase in cotton consumption in 

the developing world and quantitative easing from the 

UsA which led to a weaker dollar in preference to holding 

commodities.  Of course, speculation was also present.

The first impact was on the gross profit margin.  Fabric and 

yarn costs comprise over 60% of garment costs.  The rise 

in prices of fabric and yarn was immediate, whereas the 

garment prices lagged a good 6 months before buyers 

came to accept the increase.  The whole supply chain 

shared in the pain of the margin squeeze.

The second impact was on the working assets. it was 

fortunate that the higher commodity prices came after 

we were able to fully replace all the weakened European 

banks who withdrew their capital to their home countries, 

with increased facilities from Asian banks, and in particular 

the local banks.  We had the banks’ timely support to 

accommodate the increase in working assets caused by the 

high cotton prices.

The outcome was that GLG had a poorer first half of 2010/11 

caught by the margin squeeze.  The buyers eventually relented 

towards the second half of the year and margins began to 

recover resulting in a satisfactory second half performance.  

Full year Net Profit before Provision was UsD4.7million and 

was satisfactory compared to UsD5.4million  the year before.  

A provision of UsD2million  was prudently taken in 2010/11 

for slow collecting receivables incurred in the attempt to 

develop new customers.

We are conservatively optimistic that with the retracing 

of cotton prices to UsD104 at the end of October 2011, a 

healthier gross profit margin prevails.  With the second 

financial crisis brewing in Europe, we are comforted that 

our main market remains in the UsA.  in the light of the 

unresolved uncertainty in the Eurozone, our strategy is to 

hold our market position with our key customers, rebuild 

our profitability and deleverage to further strenghten our 

financial position.

i would like to thank our customers, suppliers, shareholders, 

banks, independent directors and our staff for their continual 

support and solidarity without which we would not have 

weathered the two crises in 2008 and 2011.   We are in a 

better position today to face the uncertainties stemming 

from Europe. 

estina Ang suan Hong
Executive Chairman

Our strategy is tO hOld Our market 
pOsitiOn with Our key CustOmers, 

rebuild Our prOfitability and 
deleverage tO further strenghten 

Our finanCial pOsitiOn.
estina Ang suan Hong

Executive Chairman
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the Board of directors of GlG corp ltd (“GlG” or “the company”) are responsible for the corporate governance of the consolidated 
entity.  the Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of GlG corp ltd on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are 
elected and to whom  they are accountable.  

Composition of the Board

the composition of the Board is determined in accordance with the following principles and guidelines:

the Board should comprise directors with an appropriate range of qualifications and expertise; and •	

the Board shall meet at least every second month and follow guidelines set down to ensure all directors are made aware of, •	
and have available, all necessary information to participate in an informed discussion of all agenda items.

the directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:

name  position 

estina ang Suan hong executive chairman and chief executive officer 

yong yin Min  director   

Surina Gan Meng hui director

christopher chong Meng tak independent director 

ernest Seow teng Peng independent director 

thongviboon independent director (appointed 3 March 2011) 

the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director as well as the period of office held by each director are set 
out in the directors’ report on page 9 to 20.  

Board responsiBilities

as the Board acts on behalf of the shareholders and is accountable to the shareholders, the Board seeks to identify the expectations 
of the shareholders as well as other regulatory and ethical expectations and obligations.  in addition, the Board is responsible 
for identifying areas of significant business risk and ensuring arrangements are in place to adequately manage those risks.  the 
Board, through the audit committee, receives reports from management on an on-going basis as to the material risks associated 
with the company’s operations and the recommended risk mitigation process that they undertake. the Board has established a 
code of conduct which in summary, requires that at all times directors and employees act with the integrity, objectivity and in 
compliance with the letter and spirit of the law and company policies. GlG has established a written policy designed to ensure 
compliance with aSX listing rule disclosure and accountability as senior executive level for compliance. 

under the guidance of the aSX’s corporate Governance Principles and recommendations (2nd edition), the Board has established 
a nomination and remuneration committee and an audit committee.  the name of members of each committee and their 
attendance at meetings is contained on page 16 of the annual report.  

the nomination and remuneration committee have established a policy prohibiting transactions in associated products which 
limit the economic risk of participating in unvested entitlements under equity-based remuneration scheme. 

a copy of the company’s code of conduct, audit committee charter, remuneration committee charter and the terms and 
conditions of the continuous disclosure and shareholder communication policy is made publically available on the company’s 
website.
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Corporate GovernanCe – prinCiples and reCommendations

GlG adopts the 2nd edition principles and recommendations put forward by the aSX corporate Governance council (“aSXcGc”).  
in accordance with the aSXcGc’s recommendations, the corporate Governance Statement must report on the company’s 
adoption of the aSXcGc’s principles and recommendations on an exception basis, whereby disclosure is required of any 
recommendations that have not been adopted, together with the reasons why they have not been adopted. GlG corp ltd’s 
corporate governance principles and policies are structured with reference to the aSXcGc’s corporate Governance Principles 
and recommendations (2nd edition), which are as follows:

(i) lay solid foundations for management and oversight;

(ii) Structure the Board to add value;

(iii) Promote ethical and responsible decision making;

(iv) Safeguard integrity in financial reporting;

(v) Make timely and balanced disclosures;

(vi) respect the rights of shareholders;

(vii) recognise and manage risk; and

(viii) remunerate fairly and responsibly.

GlG corp ltd’s corporate governance practices were in place throughout the period ended 30 June 2011. as set out below, 
with the exception of the departures from the aSXcGc’s principles and recommendations in relation to the independence of 
the Board and chairperson, the roles of chairperson and chief executive officer being performed by separate people and board 
performance evaluation, the corporate governance practices of GlG corp ltd were compliant with the council’s corporate 
Governance Principles and recommendations.

as required under the aSXcGc’s principles and recommendations and section 295 of the corporations act, the Board can confirm 
that it has received assurance from the chief executive officer and financial controller that the declaration contained on page 
24 of the annual report is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating 
effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

independenCe of Board memBers 

aSXcGc best practice recommendation 2.1 requires a majority of the Board to be independent directors, 2.2 recommends the 
chairperson should be an independent director and 2.3 requires the roles of chairperson and chief executive officer should not 
be exercised by the same individual.

aSXcGc provides a definition of independence to include not being a member of management and someone who is free of any 
other business or other relationships that could materially interfere with – or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere 
with – the independent exercise of their judgment. in accordance with this definition and further independence guidelines 
outlined in aSX corporate Governance Principles and recommendations, three of the six directors were not considered to be 
independent.  the aSX corporate Governance Principles and recommendations require the materiality threshold that was 
used to determine whether a director is independent to be disclosed. notwithstanding there are no contracts outside those 
disclosed in the annual report, a level of materiality of 5% of the independent directors’ annual income has been set for any non-
remuneration based consulting or other financial arrangements.  

the Board acknowledges the aSXcGc recommendation to have a majority of independent directors on the Board. in assessing 
the composition of the Board, GlG seeks to ensure its directors are independent in thought and judgement, and expects the 
directors to add value to the company.  GlG operates in an entrepreneurial environment, and both requires and benefits from 
the involvement of directors who have a range of specialised knowledge of, and expertise in, this business sector.
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as part of discharging its obligations as directors of the company, the company encourages directors to seek independent 
professional advice at the expense of the company where appropriate. Where issues or matters arise in relation to the running 
of the company, that in the opinion of the directors require independent professional advice to assist in the decision making 
surrounding the resolution of these issues, the Board may engage such professional advice on standard commercial terms.

the aSXcGc recommends that the chairperson should be an independent director.  the chairperson of GlG, estina ang Suan 
hong, the founder of the business, is integral in maintaining the business and important customer and banking relationships and 
carries out a strategic executive role.  GlG is in the process of selecting a lead independent director to be appointed, which is 
recommended by the aSXcGc where the chairperson is not an independent director.  the role of the lead independent director 
is to act as a representative for any collective views of the non-executive directors, to ensure that the voices of the non-executive 
directors carry significant weight in the Board’s decision making process, and to ensure that the Board understands and maintains 
boundaries between the Board and management responsibilities.

the aSXcGc also recommends that the role of chair and ceo should not be exercised by the same individual. as stated above, 
the chairperson and ceo of GlG, estina ang Suan hong, the founder of the business, is integral in maintaining the business 
and important customer and banking relationships and carries out a strategic executive role as  both chair and ceo of the 
company.  

the company’s corporate governance practices and policies in relation to nomination committee charter, which outlines the 
company’s policy for nomination and appointment of directors are publically available on the company’s website. 

performanCe evaluation

aSXcGc best practice recommendation 2.5 requires the disclosure of the process for performance evaluation of the board, its 
committees and individual directors. from time to time, the company evaluates the performance of the board, its committees 
and individual directors. there are currently no formal policies in place for these evaluations. the company believes the informal 
processes adopted are effective and efficient at the current time.

Performance evaluation of senior executives occurred during the financial year and was in accordance with the process that 
is disclosed in the company’s corporate Governance Plan. there are currently no schemes for retirement benefits, other than 
superannuation, for any directors.

a board evaluation was undertaken during the year with all directors completing an evaluation questionnaire.  enhancements 
suggested by directors are being implemented

dealinG in GlG Corporation’s seCurities By direCtors and employees

directors, officers and employees of the company are prohibited from trading in GlG securities apart from the period 15 days 
commencing the day after GlG announces its half-yearly, preliminary final reports and full year accounts. a full outline of the 
company’s securities trading policy is made publically available on the company website. 
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risk manaGement poliCy

risk is an inherent part of GlG’s business. GlG is in a highly competitive market sector.  GlG regards material business risks as 
threats to the achievement of GlG’s objectives and goals and to the successful execution of its strategies.

the main risks faced by GlG are:

operational risk (including dependence on the ongoing viability of its existing major suppliers, reliance on the uSa consumer •	
market, new trade restrictions, reliance on executive directors and key executives, uncertainties relating to expansion 
plans);

funding risk, in that GlG is dependent upon the continued support of its banks to provide trade financing facilities on an •	
ongoing basis;

reputation risk;•	

legal, compliance and documentation risk (including product liability, legal compliance guidelines set by customers);•	

regulatory risk;•	

outsourced manufacturing and other services;•	

competitive risk;•	

investment risk;•	

credit risk;•	

liquidity risk; and•	

foreign exchange risk. •	

the audit committee requests senior executives to review and monitor material business risks applicable to the business and 
ongoing operations and reports to the Board for approval. 

full disclosure of the company’s policies in relation to risk oversight and management of material business risk are made publically 
available on the company website. 

other information

the company’s corporate governance practices and policies in relation to the matters reserved to the board, matters delegated 
to senior executives and a copy of the board charter are publicly available at the company’s registered office.  the policies have 
also been posted on the company’s website.  
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Executive Chairman Estina Ang Suan Hong is the founder of 
GLG Corp Ltd.  Ms Ang is the Executive Chairman of GLG and is 
a member of the Nomination and Remuneration committee.  

Ms ang has over 35 years of experience in the textile and 
apparel industry. She began her career in the industry in 
1975, working for Polly allied Knitwear Pte ltd, a Singapore 
based apparel group.

under her leadership, GlG corp ltd has established itself as 
a global supplier of quality apparel to major retailers in the 
uSa. Ms ang also spearheaded the Business’ expansion into 
uSa, Guatemala and hong Kong.

Ms ang was also the founder of Glit Group, a key garment 
manufacturing supplier to GlG. She oversaw Glit Group’s 
establishment of operations in Malaysia, fiji, Brunei, 
indonesia, Guatemala, china and Sri lanka. Ms ang divested 
Glit Group following the listing of GlG. Ms ang also oversaw 
the acquisition of Maxim textile technology Pte ltd, a textile 
finishing company, and a subsidiary of Ghim li Group Pte 
ltd (the major shareholder of GlG).

Ms ang graduated from nanyang university in 1974 with a 
Bachelor of arts degree, and is a member of the Singapore 
institute of directors.

ESTiNA ANG SuAN HONG

the directors of GlG corp ltd (“GlG” or “the 

company”) submit herewith the annual financial 

report of the company for the financial year 

ended 30 June 2011. in order to comply with 

the provisions of the corporations act 2001, the 

directors report as follows:

iNfORMATiON AbOuT THE 
DiRECTORS AND SENiOR 
MANAGEMENT

the names and particulars of the directors of 

the company during and since the end of the 

financial year are:
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Non Executive Deputy Chairman and Lead Independent 
Director, joined the board on 12 October 2005 and resigned 
3 March 2011. 

Mr Weiss brought valuable experience in all aspects of 
supply chain management and global logistics in a multi-
national environment.  Mr Weiss was also a member of the 
audit committee and chairman of the nomination and 
remuneration committee. 

Mr Weiss currently serves as a non executive director 
of the Board of directors of oroton Group limited, iPGa 
limited, altium limited and Breville Group limited and is 
a director of open universities Pty ltd, Sydney festival and 
the Benevolent Society.  Mr Weiss has an aB from harvard 
university and an MS from colombia university.    

CHRiSTOPHER CHONG MENG TAkSAMuEl SCOTT WEiSS

Independent Director, joined the Board on 12 October 2005. Mr 
Chong is a member of the Audit Committee.

Mr chong is a partner of ach investments Pte ltd, a specialist 
corporate advisory firm in Singapore, and, an associate of 
Shadforths limited, a leading financial firm in tasmania, 
australia.  Prior to co-founding ach investments Pte ltd, Mr 
chong was a multi-award winning equity analyst and the 
Managing director of hSBc James capel Securities (Singapore) 
Pte ltd, (now known as hSBc Securities (Singapore) Pte ltd), 
a member of the hong Kong Bank Group of companies. Mr 
chong is an independent director of several public companies 
listed on the australian, Singapore and luxembourg Stock 
exchanges.  Mr chong is also a director and/or advisor to many 
private companies and to many asian families and the judicial 
branch of the Singapore government.

Mr chong has extensive asia Pacific experience having 
previously also been an advisor to listed companies on the 
exchange of hong Kong, Jakarta (indonesia), Kuala lumpur 
(Malaysia), Makati (Philippines) and Bangkok (thailand).  
Mr chong is a fellow of the australia institute of company 
directors, a fellow of the Singapore institute of directors 
and a Master Stockbroker of the Securities and derivatives 
industry association of australia.

Mr chong has received a B.Sc. (economics) from the university 
college of Wales, an MBa from london Business School and 
is a member of the institute of chartered accountants of 
Scotland.
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Independent Director, joined the Board on 12 October 2005. 
Mr Seow is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a 
member of the Nomination and Remuneration committee.  

Mr Seow has over 40 years of experience in the public 
accounting profession and served as a partner of 
international public accounting firms for about 24 years. 
he retired as a partner of Pricewaterhousecoopers in June 
2004.

he functioned as the audit engagement partner for 
a considerable number of public listed companies in 
Singapore and is familiar with requirements of listed 
companies, corporate governance, setting up internal 
controls, restructuring and financial matters. he has also 
been involved in listing a number of companies on the 
Singapore Stock exchange. 

Mr Seow is currently an independent director of Guthrie GtS 
limited and was previously a director of SSh corporation 
limited,  both listed on the Singapore Stock exchange.

Mr Seow is a fellow of cPa australia, associate member of 
the institute of chartered accountants in australia and cPa 
Singapore.

ERNEST SEOW TENG PENG

Director, joined the Board as a Director on 7 June 2006.  Mr 
Yong is also an Executive Director of GLG’s major shareholder, 
Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd.

Mr yong has a Masters degree in Business administration 
from the university of toronto and a Masters degree in 
financial engineering from the national university of 
Singapore.  Mr yong was a career banker with a background 
in commercial and merchant banking before he joined 
Ghim li Group Pte ltd in January 2004. in addition, he 
has experience in market planning and human resource 
development consulting and in private equity.

Mr yong supports Ms ang in Strategic Market Planning, in 
reviewing opportunities for acquisitions and in grooming 
the next generation of GlG managers.

YONG YiN MiN
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Director, joined the Board as a Director on 11 January 2010.  
Ms Surina Gan Meng Hui joined the Company in July 2001.  

She began her career at GlG as a Management trainee 
where she was assigned the task of leading the 
manufacturing operations.   Ms Gan is now responsible for 
the overall management of the trading Group including 
Sales & Marketing, Product operations, Product and design 
development as well as finance and accounts.  in addition 
she leads and provides direction in the management of sales 
and marketing activities. Ms Gan plans and implements 
marketing strategies to identify and develop new customer 
base and business opportunities on a global scale.

Ms Gan graduated with a Bachelor of Science (honours) 
from new york university-   Stern in 2001.

THONGVibOONSuRiNA GAN MENG Hui

Director, appointed to the Ghim Li Group Pte Ltd Board on 
3 March 2011. 

he has extensive experience in business modeling and 
development, treasury management, financial accounting, 
internal controls and fraud prevention. Mr thongviboon is a 
certified fraud examiner, a Justice of the Peace in australia, 
and an associate member of the institute of internal 
auditors in Singapore.

Mr thongviboon was a director of Shinawatra & Sti Joint 
Venture in thailand, france telecom & china unicom Joint 
Venture in china, ocean trade Services in new Zealand, 
Pacific direct line SaS in new Zealand and australia, 
new Zealand immigration Services, and Postal and 
telecommunication enterprise in australia. 

he was also the corporate Secretary of Pacific direct line SaS 
until december 2006.  Mr thongviboon was a treasurer of 
the abaijah foundation in Papua new Guinea, a consulting 
economist of Shunde city in china, and the co-owner of 
Vittoria delights in china.
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direCtorships of other listed Companies

directorships of other listed companies held by directors in the 3 years immediately before the end of the financial year are as 
follows:

name Company  period of directorship    

Samuel Scott Weiss oroton Group limited Since 2003                            

 altium limited Since 2006                

 iPGa limited Since 2007                            

 Breville Group ltd Since 2008                            

christopher chong Meng tak  lorenzo international limited Since 2006                            

 aSl Marine holdings ltd Since 2006                            

 SKy china Petroleum Services ltd Since 2004                            

 Koon holdings limited Since 2003                            

 Xpress holdings limited Since 2001                            

 Koda ltd Since 2001                            

 Showy international ltd Since 2008                             

ernest Seow teng Peng SSh corporation ltd Since 2005 to 2011              

 Guthrie GtS limited  Since 2007                            

 c.K. tang limited Since 2007 to 2011                            

yong yin Min  Swing Media technology Group ltd Since 2010                          

former partners of the audit firm

no officer of the company has been a partner in an audit firm, or a director of an audit company that is an auditor of the company 
during the period or was such a partner or director at a time when the audit firm or the audit company undertook an audit of 
the company.

direCtors’ shareholdinGs

the following table sets out each director’s relevant interest in shares, debentures, and rights or options in shares or debentures 
of the company or a related body corporate as at the date of this report.

directors fully paid ordinary shares share options
 number number

estina ang Suan hong 54,560,003 –

Samuel Scott Weiss* 119,999 –

christopher chong Meng tak 160,007 –

ernest Seow teng Peng 99,999 –

• Mr Weiss resigned 3 March 2011
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remuneration of direCtors and senior manaGement

information about the remuneration of directors and senior management is set out in the remuneration report of this directors’ 
report, on pages 17 to 20.

share options Granted to direCtors and senior manaGement

during and since the end of the financial year an aggregate nil share options (2010: nil) were granted to the directors as part of 
their remuneration.

Company seCretary 

 Ms Joanne (Jo) Bourke was appointed as company Secretary on 5 July 2011.  Ms Bourke is a qualified   accountant and chartered 
secretary with 5 years experience in the oil and gas industry and 12 years experience in the financial services industry both in 
australia and overseas. Ms Bourke has extensive experience in the areas of corporate governance, statutory, regulatory and 
compliance reporting and activities. Ms Bourke is also company Secretary for aSX listed elk Petroleum ltd.

Mr Shane hartwig resigned as company Secretary on 5 July 2011.  Mr hartwig is a certified Practising accountant and chartered 
company Secretary and holds a Bachelor of Business degree, majoring in accounting and taxation from curtin university of 
technology in Western australia.

Mr hartwig is currently company Secretary of aSX listed anteo diagnostics limited and non executive director of aSX listed 
uran limited both on a contract basis. Mr hartwig has over 17 years experience in the finance industry both nationally and 
internationally with exposure in both the debt and equity capital markets.

prinCipal aCtivities

the consolidated entity’s principal activities in the course of the financial year were being a global supplier of knitwear/apparel 
and supply chain management operations.

review of operations

GlG’s net profit decreased 66% to $2,705 thousand, against a net profit of $7,920 thousand in the previous year. the decline was 
due to lower gross margin, higher distribution expenses, administration expenses and the inclusion of an impairment charge of 
$2,000 thousand. in the previous financial year, there was a write back of impairment charge of $2,500 thousand as compared to 
a charge of $2,000 thousand in this financial year. this contributed to a drop in net profit by $4,500 thousand.

GlG’s sales increased 22% to $237,885 thousand compared to $195,495 thousand in the previous year. the increase in sales was 
mainly attributed to higher freight on Board (“foB”) unit prices resulted from higher cotton prices and increase in sales of yarn.

cost of sales increased 24% to $217,373 thousand compared to cost of sales of $175,367 thousand in the previous year, consistent 
with the increase in sales.

GlG’s gross profit was $20,512 thousand compared to a gross profit of $20,128 thousand in the previous year. Gross margin 
declined by 1.7% to 8.6% compared to 10.3% in the previous year. this is because of surging  cotton prices could not be fully 
passed on to the retailers as consumers’ confidence remained low. 

Selling and distribution costs increased 52% to $1,597 thousand compared to $1,048 thousand in the previous year. the increase 
in expenses was mainly due to higher design fees paid for filling Wal-mart and target foB sales orders which increased by 44%.
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administration expense increased 16% to $12,535 thousand compared to $10,823 in the previous year. the increase was mainly 
due to the reinstatement of staff salaries and wages to pre-global crisis levels in order to avoid high staff turnover as business 
trading conditions improved.

trade and other receivables increased by 37% to $31,313 thousand as at 30 June 2011 compared to $22,819 thousand as at 30 
June 2010 mainly due to higher sales. 

total current payables and borrowings increased by $13,369 thousand, or 219%, to $19,482 thousand as at 30 June 2011 compared 
to $6,121 thousand as at 30 June 2010  due to increase in purchases of cotton yarn.  as noted above the company has taken a 
conservative position of getting the factories to purchase the required cotton yarn upfront prior to tender or upon receipt of an 
order.

cash flows from operations increased to $25,668 thousand for the year ended 30 June 2011 compared to $12,149 thousand in 
the prior year. the increase in the cash flow from operating activities was mainly due to higher revenue, and improvement in cash 
management and collection efficiency.  

We believe the cash flows from operations of GlG remains sufficient to meet our working capital requirements, capital 
expenditures, debts servicing and other funding requirements for the foreseeable future.

ChanGes in state of affairs

during the financial period there was no significant change in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity other than that 
referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto.

dividends

in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend and no 
interim dividend was paid.   in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2010, no dividend was declared.

suBsequent events

there has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected or may significantly affect, the operations of GlG, the results of operations or the state of affairs of GlG in future financial 
years.

future developments

disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of GlG in future financial years and the expected 
results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the consolidated entity.  accordingly, this information 
has not been disclosed in this report.

shares under option or issued on exerCise of options 

there are no shares under option or issues on exercise of operations during the year (2010: nil).F
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indemnifiCation of offiCers and auditors 

during the financial year, the company paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as named 
above), the company secretary, and all executive officers of the company and of any permitted by the corporations act 2001. the 
contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

the company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such 
an officer or auditor.

direCtors’ meetinGs 

the following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the 
financial year and the number of meetings attended by each director (while they were a director or committee member). during 
the financial year 5 Board meetings, 1 nomination and remuneration committee meeting and 3 audit committee meetings 
were held:

  nomination &
 Board of directors  remuneration committee audit committee

directors held attended held attended held attended

estina ang Suan hong 5 5 1 1 – –

Samuel Scott Weiss 4 4 1 1 3 3

ernest Seow teng Peng 5 5 1 1 3 3

christopher chong Meng tak 5 5 – – 3 3

yong yin Min 5 5 – – – –

Surina Gan 5 4 – – – –

thongviboon 1 – – – – –

non-audit serviCes

details of amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor are  outlined in 
note 31 to the full financial report.

the directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services, during the year, by the auditor (or by another person or firm 
on the auditor’s behalf ) is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the corporations act 
2001.

the directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 31 to the full financial statements do not compromise the 
external auditors’ independence, based on advice received from the audit committee, for the following reasons:

all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of •	
the auditor, and

none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in code of conduct aPeS •	
110 code of ethics for Professional accountants issued by the accounting Professional & ethical Standards Board, including 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making capacity for the company, acting 
as advocate for the company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



DiRECTOR’S REPORT
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

GlG corP ltd annual rePort 2011
17

auditor’s independenCe deClaration

the auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 21 of the financial report.

roundinG off of amounts

the company is a company of the kind referred to in aSic class order 98/0100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance with that 
class order amounts in the directors’ report and the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless 
otherwise indicated.

all amounts are presented in uS dollars, unless otherwise noted.

remuneration report

this remuneration report, which forms part of the directors’ report, sets out information about the remuneration of GlG’s 
directors and its senior management for the financial year ended 30 June 2011. the prescribed details for each person covered 
by this report are detailed below under the following headings:

director and senior management details•	

remuneration policy•	

relationship between the remuneration policy and company performance•	

remuneration of directors and senior management•	

key terms of employment contracts.•	

direCtor and senior manaGement details

the following persons acted as directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year:

estina ang Suan hong•	  (Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Samuel Scott Weiss•	  (Non-executive Deputy Chairman and Independent Director resigned 3 March 2011)

christopher chong Meng tak •	 (Independent Director)

ernest Seow teng Peng •	 (Independent Director)

yong yin Min •	 (Director)

Surina Gan Meng hui  •	 (Director and Chief Operating Officer)

thongviboon•	  (Independent Director appointed  3 March 2011) 

the term ‘senior management’ is used in this remuneration report to refer to the following persons. except as noted, the named 
persons held their current position for the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year:

felicia Gan Peiling •	 (Senior Vice President - Retail)

alice chong•	  (Acting Chief Financial Officer, resigned on 30 April 2011)

Kang eng chuan  •	 (Financial Controller)

Mr Shane hartwig was the company secretary and resigned 5 July 2011. Mr hartwig is employed by transocean Group to which 
GlG paid an annual fee of uS$46,241 (2010: uS$46,241) for the services provided.  
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remuneration poliCy

relationship Between the remuneration poliCy and Company performanCe

the tables below set out summary information about the consolidated entity’s earnings and movements in shareholder wealth 
for the five years to June 2011:

 30 June 2011 30 June 2010 30 June 2009 30 June 2008 30 June 2007
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

revenue from all sources 239,969 196,532 197,515 210,356 222,640

net profit before tax 3,606 9,015 3,006 7,144 8,892

net profit after tax 2,705 7,920 2,083 6,324 8,067

Share price at start of year $0.28 $0.16 $0.26 $0.85  $1.02 

Share price at end of year $0.24 $0.28 $0.16 $0.26  $0.85

final dividend (unfranked) – – – – 6.2cps

Basic earnings per share 3.65cps    10.69cps    2.81cps 8.53cps 10.89cps

diluted earnings per share      3.65cps      10.69cps 2.81cps 8.53cps 10.89cps

remuneration is assessed for directors and senior executives with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit 
from the retention of a high quality executive team. the appropriateness and nature of emoluments is assessed by reference to 
employment market conditions. the performance criteria against which directors and executives are assessed is aligned with 
the financial and non-financial objectives of GlG corp ltd.  the remuneration committee has approved the implementation of 
incentive based remuneration for all staff including senior executives which will require each member of staff to be reviewed 
with regard to individual and corporate objectives. any increases in executive compensation will correlate with achievement of 
individual and corporate objectives.  the remuneration committee has not dictated what form the incentives for each member 
of staff will take.  during the financial year and up to the date of this report bonuses had been paid to staff based on their 
performance in line with the financial and non-financial objectives of GlG corp ltd and are outlined below in this report.

remuneration of direCtors and senior manaGement

each executive director of the company has entered into an executive Service agreement with Ghim li Global Pte ltd, a major 
subsidiary of GlG.  they are not remunerated separately for being a director or executive of the company or other operating 
entities.  under their respective terms of engagement, all executives, with the exception of Mr yong yin Min and Ms Surina Gan:

commenced their terms as an executive of Ghim li Global Pte ltd on 1 January 2005, for a 3 year term, and thereafter their •	
engagement automatically continues from year to year, unless their executive Service agreement is terminated;

are covenanted to not compete against GlG’s operations for a period of 12 months after cessation of employment with •	
Ghim li Global Pte ltd;

agree that either party may terminate their executive Service agreement by giving 3 months written notice. in addition, •	
Ghim li Global Pte ltd may without prior notice terminate their Service agreements under certain conditions, for example, 
if the executive commits a serious breach of his or her obligations, or is guilty of grave misconduct in the discharge of his or 
her duties, or becomes bankrupt.

the service agreements contain otherwise standard terms, including with regard to each executive’s duties, Ghim li Global Pte 
ltd owns any intellectual property created by its executives, confidentiality, entitlements to minor benefits in addition to their 
remuneration, and devoting substantially the whole of their time and attention during business hours to the discharge of their 
duties.
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each executive director receives a salary per annum.  they may also be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the nomination 
and remuneration committee, in its absolute discretion.  

each of the key managers have entered into a service agreement with Ghim li Global Pte ltd, the general terms of which are not 
materially different to those of the executive directors described above.

each key manager receives a salary per annum, reviewed by the chief executive officer annually with reference to the progress 
of GlG.  each may also be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the chief executive officer, reviewed by the nomination 
and remuneration committee, and approved by the Board taking into account overall management performance and the 
company’s profit for the year.  

elements of key manaGement personnel remuneration

remuneration packages contain the following key elements:

(a) Short-term employment benefits – salaries/fees, bonuses; 

(b) Post-employment benefits; and

(c) equity options.

remuneration of direCtors and senior manaGement

     post- other  share –based
     employment long-term payment
 salary  non-  benefits super- employee options
 & fees Bonus monetary other annuation benefits & rights total

2011 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ 

directors

estina ang Suan hong 1 464,181 77,441 – – 9,592 – – 551,214

Samuel Scott Weiss 4 47,516 – – – – – – 47,516

christopher chong Meng tak 49,959 – – – – – – 49,959

ernest Seow teng Peng 49,959 – – – – – – 49,959

yong yin Min 92,929 11,616 – – 4,301 – – 108,846

Surina Gan Meng hui 1 157,921 35,546 – – 11,609 – – 205,076

thongviboon – – – – – – – –

 862,465 124,603 – – 25,502 – – 1,012,570

executives        

felicia Gan Peiling 87,967 11,616 – – 8,020 – – 107,603

Kang eng chuan 3 52,407 – – – 4,715 – – 57,122

alice chong 2 93,255 11,616 – – 3,678 – – 108,519

 233,599 23,232 – – 16,413 – – 273,244

total 1,096,064 147,835 – – 41,915 – – 1,285,814 

1.  estina ang Suan hong, Surina Gan Meng hui are both directors and executives of GlG corp ltd.  estina ang Suan hong acts as the chief 
executive officer, Surina Gan Meng hui is the chief operating officer, Surina Gan Meng hui was appointed as director on 11 January 2010.  

2.  alice chong resigned on 30 april 2011.
3.  Kang eng chuan appointed as financial controller.
4.  Samuel Scott Weiss resigned on 3 March 2011.

short term employment benefits
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     post- other  share –based
     employment long-term payment
 salary  non-  benefits super- employee options
 & fees Bonus monetary other annuation benefits & rights total

2010 us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ us$ 

directors

estina ang Suan hong 1 375,349 71,494 – – 8,262 – – 455,105

Samuel Scott Weiss 63,014 – – – – – – 63,014

eu Mun leong 2 46,472 – – – 1,692 – – 48,164

christopher chong Meng tak 43,801 – – – – – – 43,801

ernest Seow teng Peng 43,801 – – – – – – 43,801

yong yin Min 75,070 21,448 – – 4,508 – – 101,026

Surina Gan Meng hui 1 112,497 41,467 – – 11,615 – – 165,579

 760,004 134,409 – – 26,077 – – 920,490

executives        

felicia Gan Peiling 65,632 6,291 – – 6,515 – – 78,438

agnes ng Moi ngw  59,841 6,291 – – 2,418 – – 68,550

alice chong 93,261 12,869 – – 4,508 – – 110,638

 218,734 25,451 – – 13,441 – – 257,626

total 978,738 159,860 – – 39,518 – – 1,178,116 

1.  estina ang Suan hong, Surina Gan Meng hui are both directors and executives of GlG corp ltd.  estina ang Suan hong acts as the chief 
executive officer, Surina Gan Meng hui is the chief operating officer, Surina Gan Meng hui was appointed as director on 11 January 2010.  

2.  eu Mun leong resigned on 11 January 2010.

the directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.298 (2) of the corporations 
act 2001.

on behalf of the directors

estina ang suan hong
Executive Chairman
Singapore, 30 September 2011

short term employment benefits
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the directors declare that:

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts 
as and when they become due and payable; 

(b) the attached financial statements are in compliance with international financial reporting Standards, as stated 
in note 2 to the financial statements;

(c)    in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the 
corporations act 2001, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the consolidated entity; and

(d) the directors have been given the declarations required by s.295a of the corporations act 2001.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to s.295(5) of the corporations act 2001.

on behalf of the directors

estina ang suan hong
executive chairman
Singapore, 30 September 2011
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notes to the financial statements are included on page 30 to 65

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
 note us$’000 us$’000

revenue 5 237,885 195,495

cost of sales  (217,373) (175,367)

Gross profit  20,512 20,128

other revenue 5 997 971

other income 5 1,087 66

reversal of impairment  – 2,500

distribution expenses  (1,597) (1,048)

administration expenses  (12,535) (10,823)

finance costs 6 (1,408) (1,404)

impairment expense  (2,000) –

other expenses  (1,450) (1,336)

Share of losses of jointly controlled entities accounted for using the equity method 11 – (39)

profit before income tax expense  3,606 9,015
income tax expense 8 (901) (1,095)

profit for the year   2,705 7,920
    

other comprehensive income  – –

total comprehensive income for the year  2,705 7,920

    

earnings per share:    
Basic (cents per share) 19 3.65 10.69

diluted (cents per share) 19 3.65 10.69
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notes to the financial statements are included on page 30 to 65

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
 note us$’000 us$’000

Current assets    
cash and cash equivalents 26(a) 10,439 2,031

trade and other receivables 9 31,313 22,819

inventory  19 5

other assets 13 235 226

other financial assets 10 – –

total current assets      42,006     25,081

    

non-current assets    
other financial assets 10 16,557 18,200

investments accounted for using the equity method 11 – –

Property, plant and equipment 12 1,274 1,050

total non-current assets  17,831 19,250

total assets  59,837 44,331

    

Current liabilities    
trade and other payables 14 3,313 5,032

Borrowings  15 16,169 1,081

current tax liabilities 8(b) 1,026 1,049

total current liabilities  20,508 7,162

    

non-current liabilities    
Borrowings  15 1,460 2,005

deferred tax liabilities 8(c) 87 87

total non-current liabilities  1,547 2,092

total liabilities  22,055 9,254

net assets  37,782 35,077

    

equity    
issued capital 16 10,322 10,322

reserves 17 – –

retained earnings 18 27,460 24,755

total equity  37,782 35,077
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notes to the financial statements are included on page 30 to 65

   financial  
  issued Guarantee retained 
 note Capital reserves profits total
  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

Consolidated    
Balance at 1 July 2009  10,322 3 16,835 27,160

Profit for the year  – – 7,920 7,920

other comprehensive income for the year  – – – –

total comprehensive income for the year  – – 7,920 7,920

recognition of financial guarantee fees 17 – (3) – (3)

Payment of dividends 20 – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2010  10,322 – 24,755 35,077

     

Balance at 1 July 2010  10,322 – 24,755 35,077

Profit for the year  – – 2,705 2,705

other comprehensive income for the year  – – – –

total comprehensive income for the year  – – 2,705 2,705

Payment of dividends 20 – – – –

Balance at 30 June 2011  10,322 – 27,460   37,782

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



CONSOliDATED STATEMENT Of
CASH flOWS

for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

GlG corP ltd annual rePort 2011
29

notes to the financial statements are included on page 30 to 65

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
 note us$’000 us$’000

Cash flows from operating activities   
receipts from customers  263,895 199,343

Payments to suppliers and employees  (236,769) (236,913)

interest and other costs of finance paid  (533) (387)

income tax paid  (925) (705)

net cash provided by operating activities 26(c) 25,668 12,149

   

Cash flows from investing activities   
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment   5 483

Payment for property, plant and equipment  (613) (472)

Proceeds on the sale of investment  – 1,950

repayment of related party loans  (869)        (95)

net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities        (1,477)         1,866

   

Cash flows from financing activities   
additional/ (repayment) of borrowings  8,346 (92)

amounts advanced  to other parties  (24,992) (14,895)

amounts advanced/(repayment) to related parties  863 (3,759)

net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities  (15,783)  (18,746)

net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  8,408 (4,731)
cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  2,031 6,762

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 26(a) 10,439 2,031
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

1. General information

 GlG corp ltd (the company) is a public company listed on the australian Securities exchange (aSX: Gle), incorporated in 
australia and operating in asia.

 GlG corp ltd’s registered office and principal place of business are as follows:

 registered office principal place of business

 level 40 north Point 41, changi South ave 2, 
 100 Miller St Singapore 486153
 north Sydney nSW 2060
 australia 

 the entity’s principal activities are the global supply of knitwear/apparel and supply chain management operations.

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies

 statement of compliance

 the financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the corporations 
act 2001, accounting Standards and interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. the financial report 
comprise the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

 accounting Standards include australian accounting Standards. compliance with the australian accounting Standards 
ensures that the financial statements and notes of the Group comply with international financial reporting Standards 
(‘ifrS’). 

 the financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 30 September 2011.

 Basis of preparation

 the financial report has been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for financial instruments. cost is based on 
the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. all amounts are presented in uS dollars, unless otherwise 
noted.

 the company is a company of the kind referred to in aSic class order 98/100, dated 10 July 1998, and in accordance 
with that class order amounts in the financial report are rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise 
indicated.

 adoption of new and revised accounting standards

 in the current year, the company has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and interpretations issued by the 
australian accounting Standards Board (the aaSB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual 
reporting period. details of the impact of the adoption of these new accounting standards are set out in the individual 
accounting policy notes set out below. 

 new and revised Standards and interpretations effective for the current period that are relevant to the company include:

•	 Amendments	to	AASB	107	“Statement	of	Cash	Flows”

•	 AASB	2010-3	“Amendments	to	Australian	Accounting	Standards	arising	from	the	Annual	Improvement	Project”

•	 Interpretation	19	“Extinguishing	Financial	Liabilities	with	Equity	Instruments”

 there are no new and revised Standards and intrepretations adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting 
results or the financial position.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 standards and interpretations issued not yet effective

 at the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and interpretations were in issue but not yet 
effective.

  effective for annual expected to be
  reporting periods initially applied in the
 standard/interpretation beginning on or after financial year ending

 aaSB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009), aaSB 2009-11  1 January 2013 30 June 2014
 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
 AASB 9, AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
 Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010)

 AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures (2009), AASB 2009-12  1 January 2011 30 June 2012
 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards

 AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting  1 January 2011 30 June 2012
 Standards arising from the Annual Improvements Project

 AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 1 January 2011 30 June 2012

 AASB 2010-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  1 July 2011 30 June 2012
 Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets

 AASB 2010-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards –  1 January 2012 30 June 2013
 Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets

 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB  128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 119 Employee Benefits (2011) 1 January 2013 30 June 2014

 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards-  1 July 2012 30 June 2013
 Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 the following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

 (a) Basis of consolidation

  the consolidated financial statements are prepared by combining the financial statements of all the entities that 
comprise the consolidated entity, being the company (the parent entity) and its subsidiaries as defined in accounting 
Standard aaSB 127 ‘consolidated and Separate financial Statements’. a list of subsidiaries appears in note 24 to 
the financial statements. consistent accounting policies are employed in the preparation and presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements.

  the consolidated financial statements include the information and results of each subsidiary from the date on which 
the company obtains control and until such time as the company ceases to control such entity. the consolidated 
financial statements have been accounted for as reverse acquisition of companies under common control and the 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the reverse acquisition accounting method. 

  income and expense of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated  
statement of comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, 
as appropraite. total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the company and to the 
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

  in preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and transactions, and unrealised 
profits arising within the consolidated entity are eliminated in full.

 (b) Joint venture arrangements

  Jointly controlled entities

  interest in jointly controlled entities in which the Group is a venturer (and so has joint control) are accounted for 
under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the company financial 
statements. 

  investments in jointly controlled entities where the Group is an investor but does not have joint control over that 
entity are accounted for as an available-for-sale financial asset or, if the Group has significant influence, by using the 
equity method. 

 (c)  Foreign currency

  the individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in its functional currency being the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates. for the purpose of the consolidated financial 
statements, the results and financial position of  each entity are expressed in united States dollars, which is the 
functional currency of GlG corp ltd and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements

  in preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s 
functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. at each 
balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are  retranslated at the rates prevailing at 
the balance sheet date. non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (c)  Foreign currency (cont’d)

  exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise except that:

  (i) exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, which are included 
in the cost of those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency 
borrowings (refer note 2 (k));

  (ii) exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks; and 

  (iii) exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which 
settlement is neither planned or likely to occur, which form part of the net investment in a foreign operation, 
and which are recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve and recognised in profit or loss on 
disposal of the net investment.

  on consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated in united States dollars 
at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. income and expense items are translated at the average 
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity 
and transferred to the groups foreign currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences are recognised in 
profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed.

  Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity on or after the date of transition to 
australian accounting Standards are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at exchange 
rates prevailing at the reporting date. Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to australian 
accounting Standards is treated as a united States dollar denominated asset.

 (d) Goods and services tax

  revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GSt), except:

  (i) where the amount of GSt incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of 
the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

  (ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GSt.

  the net amount of GSt recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables.

  cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. the GSt component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within 
operating cash flows.

 (e) Revenue recognition

  revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, stock rotation, price protection, rebates and other similar allowances.

  Sale of goods 

  revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are delivered to buyers’ forwarders which is taken to 
be the point in time when the buyers have accepted the goods and the related risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (e) Revenue recognition (cont’d)

  rendering of services

  rendering of services is commission income recognised upon completion of services rendered to fabric suppliers 
and garments manufacturers.

  dividend and interest revenue

  dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis 
that takes into account the effective yield on the financial asset.

 (f ) Income tax

  current tax

  current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit or tax loss for the period. it is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date. current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent 
that it is unpaid (or refundable).

  deferred tax

  deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet liability method in respect of temporary 
differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements 
and the corresponding tax base of those items. in principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences. deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable 
amounts will be available against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can 
be utilised. however, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise 
to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business combination) 
which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit. furthermore, a deferred tax liability is not recognised in 
relation to taxable temporary differences arising from goodwill.

  deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, 
branches, associates and joint ventures except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with these investments and interests 
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to 
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

  deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the 
asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by reporting date. the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the consolidated entity expects, at the reporting date, 
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

  deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority 
and the company/consolidated entity intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

  current and deferred tax for the period

  current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement, except when it relates to 
items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or 
where it arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken into.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (g)    Cash and cash equivalents 

  cash comprise cash on hand and demand deposits. cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and 
have a maturity of three months or less at the date of acquisition.

  Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the balance sheet.

 (h) Financial assets

  investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a 
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, 
and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs except for those financial assets classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

  Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost in the company’s financial 
statements. Subsequent to initial recognition, investments in associates are accounted for under the equity method 
in the consolidated financial statements and the cost method in the company financial statements. 

  other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit 
or loss’, ‘held-to-maturity’ investments, ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets, and ‘loans and receivables’. the classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

  effective interest method

  the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating 
interest income over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest 
rate, transaction costs and other premium or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

  interest income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those financial 
assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’.

  loans and receivables

  trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method less impairment.

  interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.

  impairment of financial assets

  financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at 
each balance sheet date. financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or 
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset the estimated future cash flows of the 
investment have been impacted.

  the carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment 
loss through the use of an allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against the allowance account.  changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognized 
through profit and loss.  
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (h) Financial assets (cont’d)

  for financial assets carried at amortised costs, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

  the carrying amount of financial assets including uncollectible trade receivables is reduced by the impairment loss 
through the use of an allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
the allowance account. changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

  derecognition of financial assets

  the Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. if 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control 
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts 
it may have to pay. if the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial assets and also recognises a collateralised borrowings for the 
proceeds received.

 (i) Inventories

  inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. costs, including an appropriate portion of 
fixed and variable overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each 
particular class of inventory, valued on a first in first out basis. net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

 (j) Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 
purposes, are carried in the balance sheet at cost, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. 

  depreciation is provided on property, plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land. 
depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so as to write off the net cost or other revalued amount of each 
asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. leasehold improvements are depreciated over the 
period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight line method. the estimated 
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. the 
following estimated useful lives are used in the calculation of depreciation

  leasehold improvements 5-10  years

  Plant and equipment 5- 10 years

  furniture, fittings and office equipment    3-5 years

  Motor vehicles 5-10 years 

 (k) Borrowing costs 

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying asset, which are 
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.  all other 
borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (l) Leased assets

  leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership to the lessee. all other leases are classified as operating leases.

  Group as lessee

  assets held under finance leases are initially recognised at their fair value or, if lower, at amounts equal to the present 
value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. the corresponding liability to 
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. lease payments are apportioned between 
finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability. finance charges are charged directly against income.

  finance leased assets are amortised on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset.

  operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased 
asset are consumed.

  lease incentives

  in the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a 
liability. the aggregate benefits of incentives are recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, 
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased asset are consumed.

 (m) Intangible assets 

  Patents, trademarks and licences

  Patents, trademarks and licences are recorded at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment. amortisation is 
charged on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 years. the estimated useful life and amortisation 
method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period.

  internally-generated intangible assets - research and development costs

  expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Where no 
internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is recognised as an expense in 
the period as incurred.

  an intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised 
if, and only if, all of the following are demonstrated

	 	 •	 the	technical	feasibility	of	completing	the	intangible	asset	so	that	it	will	be	available	for	use	or	sale;

	 	 •	 the	intention	to	complete	the	intangible	asset	and	use	or	sell	it;

	 	 •	 the	ability	to	use	or	sell	the	intangible	asset;

	 	 •	 how	the	intangible	asset	will	generate	probable	future	economic	benefits;

	 	 •	 the	availability	of	adequate	technical,	financial	and	other	resources	to	complete	the	development	and	to	use	or	
sell the intangible asset; and

	 	 •	 the	ability	to	measure	reliably	the	expenditure	attributable	to	the	intangible	asset	during	its	development
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (m) Intangible assets  (cont’d)

  internally-generated intangible assets

  internally-generated intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment, and are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful lives as follows:

	 	 •	 capitalised	development	costs	5	years

 (n) Employee benefits

  Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, long service leave, 
and sick leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

  Provisions made in respect of short term employee benefits are measured at their nominal values using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

  Provisions made in respect of long term employee benefits are measured as the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by employees up to 
reporting date.

  defined contribution plans

  contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when employees have rendered service 
entitling them to the contributions.

 (o) Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, the future sacrifice of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured 
reliably.

  the amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a 
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows. 

  When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third 
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount 
of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

  Warranties

  Provisions for warranty costs are recognised at the date of sale of the relevant products, at the directors’ best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the consolidated entity’s liability.

 (p) Financial instruments issued by the Company

  debt and equity instruments

  debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. an equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of 
an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

 (p) Financial instruments issued by the Company (cont’d)

  compound instruments

  the component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as liabilities and equity in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement. at the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component is 
estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar non-convertible debt. this amount is recorded as a 
liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion or upon the instruments reaching maturity. the 
equity component initially brought to account is determined by deducting the amount of the liability component 
from the amount of the compound instrument as a whole. this is recognised and included in equity, net of income 
tax effects and is not subsequently remeasured.

  transaction costs on the issue of equity instruments

  transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised directly in equity as a reduction of 
the proceeds of the equity instruments to which the costs relate. transaction costs are the costs that are incurred 
directly in connection with the issue of those equity instruments and which would not have been incurred had 
those instruments not been issued.

  interest and dividends

  interest and dividends are classified as expenses or as distributions of profit consistent with the balance sheet 
classification of the related debt or equity instruments or component parts of compound instruments.

  financial liabilities

  financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ or other financial liabilities.

  financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

  financial liabilities are classified as at fair value through profit or loss where the financial liability is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

  a financial liability is held for trading if:

	 	 •	 it	has	been	incurred	principally	for	the	purpose	of	repurchasing	in	the	near	future;	or

	 	 •	 it	is	a	part	of	an	identified	portfolio	of	financial	instruments	that	the	Group	manages	together	and	has	a	recent	
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

	 	 •	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

  a financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading is designated as at fair value through profit or loss 
upon initial recognition if:

	 	 •	 such	designation	eliminates	or	 significantly	 reduces	a	measurement	or	 recognition	 inconsistency	 that	would	
otherwise arise; or

	 	 •	 the	financial	liability	forms	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	or	both,	which	is	managed	and	
its performance  evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or it forms part of a 
contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and aaSB 139 ‘financial instruments: recognition and 
Measurement’ permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

2. siGnifiCant aCCountinG poliCies (cont’d)

  financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. the net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. 
fair value is determined in the manner described in note 27.

  other financial liabilities

  other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. 

  other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis. 

  the effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

 (q) Reclassification of financial information

  the company has reassessed its presentation of discounts and rebates received from suppliers to ensure items are 
classified within the Statement of comprehensive income consistent with the company’s accounting policy on 
inventories.  Based on this reassessment, it was determined that certain amounts in the Statement of comprehensive 
income recognised within the lines other revenue and other income should be classified and recognised within 
cost of sales.  overall this reclassification has nil impact on the net profit after tax disclosed in the Statement of 
comprehensive income but the other revenue/other income and cost of sales line items both reduce by uS$964 
thousand. due to this reassessment a reclassification was also completed within the Statement of cash flows with 
receipts from customers decreasing uS$964 thousand and payments to suppliers decreasing by the same amount. 
this has nil impact on net cash flow from operating activities and the net cash increase for the year.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

3.   CritiCal aCCountinG JudGements and key sourCes of estimation unCertainty

 in the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2, management is required to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. the estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments. actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

 Receivables

 Management refer to the current carrying value of the Glit receivable (the company’s primary sourcing partner), the 
carrying value of this receivable has been based on management’s judgment and based on various underlying assumptions 
and estimates.

 the estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 Foreign Currency

 the Group enters into certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies to manage the risk associated with 
anticipated garment export transactions.  further details of foreign currency transactions are disclosed in note 27 to the 
financial statements.

4.   seGment information

 GlG operates in the apparel industry and reports only one reportable segment under aaSB 8 “operating Segments”.

5. revenue
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Continuing operations    
revenue from the sale of goods  237,885 195,495

revenue from the rendering of services  997 971

  238,882 196,466

other income    

interest income  847 –

other  240 66

  1,087 66

total other income  1,087 66

  239,969 196,532
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

6. finanCe Costs
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

interest on loans   124 198

interest on obligations under finance leases  25 10

other interest expense   632 813

total interest expense   781 1,021

line of credit charges  627 383

  1,408 1,404

7.  profit for the year Before inCome tax expense

 (a) Gains and losses 

 Profit/(loss) for the year has been arrived at after crediting/(charging) the following gains and losses:
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Gain/ (loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  3 345

allowance written back – doubtful debts  (136) (119)

reversal of impairment  – (2,500)

impairment expense  2,000 –

allowance for doubtful receivables  – –

net foreign exchange gain/(losses)  (417)         79        

depreciation of non-current assets   387 379 

amortisation of non-current assets  – – 

  387 379 

    

operating lease rental expenses:   

Minimum lease payments  1,659 1,397 

  1,659 1,397 

    

employee benefit expense:   

Share based payment expense  – –  
Post employment benefits:    
defined contribution plans  520 459

other employee benefit  8,185 6,836

total employee benefit expenses  8,705 7,295 

     
finance lease interest expenses  25 10 F
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

8. inCome taxes 

 (a)  income tax recognised in profit or loss
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

tax expense comprises:   
current tax expense in respect of the current year        844       1,000

adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years 57 95

deferred tax expense relating to the origination and reversal of temporary differences – –

total tax expense  901 1,095

  

the prima facie income tax expense on pre-tax accounting profit from operations 
reconciles to the income tax expense in the financial statements as follows:   

Profit from operations  3,606   9,015  

income tax expense calculated at 30%    1,082   2,704

effect of revenue that is exempt from taxation  – –

effect of expenses that are not deductible/asessable in determining taxable profit         (668) (624)

effect of income not taxable for tax purposes  – (314)

effect of tax losses not recognised  259 132

effects of tax concessions (i)  535 348

effects of tax exempt income  – (24)

effects of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdiction  (412) (1,111)

utilisation of  tax losses of a related company  (85) (121)

deferred tax assets not recognised   (1) –

  710 990
other   250 10

  960 1,000

adjustments recognised in the current year in relation to the current tax of prior years (59) 95

income tax expense recognised in profit  901 1,095

(i)   one of the subsidiary companies, Ghim li Global Pte ltd was awarded the Global trader Program status for a period of 5 years from 
1 January 2003.  the Global trader Program status were subsequently renewed and extended for another 5 years with effect from 1 
January 2008. Subject to the terms and conditions prescribed by the income tax act of Singapore and the Global trader Program, 
income derived from qualifying trading transactions is taxed at the concessionary rate of 10%.

the tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by australian corporate entities on taxable profits 
under australian tax law. there has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period.  
however, for the purposes of tax reconciliation, certain subsidiaries were operating in Singapore and hong Kong, in which these entities 
are taxable at the respective local tax rates.

the Singapore government announced on 15 february 2007 that the corporate income tax rate will be changed from 20% to 18% with 
effect from the year of assessment 2008 after which on  22nd January 2009 there is another corporate tax reduction from 18% to 17% 
for year of assessment 2010 onwards.

the hong Kong government has announced on 27 february 2008 that the corporate income tax rate will be changed from 17.5% to 

16.5% with effect from the year of assessment 2009.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

8. inCome taxes (cont’d)

 (b)  Current tax assets and liabilities
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Current tax liabilities   

income tax payable attributable to entities in the consolidated group  1,026 1,049

  1,026 1,049

 (c)   deferred tax balances 

 deferred tax liability arise from the following:  

    Consolidated
 opening Charged  Charged acquisitions exchange Changes Closing 
 balance to income to equity /disposals differences in tax rate balance 
2011 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 

temporary differences       
Property, plant and equipment  87 – – – – – 87

 87 – – – – – 87

unused tax losses and other credits:       

nil – – – – – – –

 – – – – – – –

 87 – – – – – 87
 
 Presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 deferred tax liability 87

 deferred tax liability arise from the following:  

    Consolidated
 opening Charged  Charged acquisitions exchange Changes Closing 
 balance to income to equity /disposals differences in tax rate balance 
2010 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 us$’000  us$’000 us$’000 

temporary differences       
Property, plant and equipment  87 – – – – – 87

 87 – – – – – 87

unused tax losses and other credits:       

nil – – – – – – –

 – – – – – – –

 87 – – – – – 87
 
 Presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 deferred tax liability 87
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8. inCome taxes (cont’d)

 unrecognised deferred tax assets
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

the following deferred tax assets have not been brought to account as assets:  

tax losses – revenue  – –

temporary differences   1 81

  1 81

 unrecognised taxable temporary differences  associated with investments and interests
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

taxable temporary differences in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches 
and associates and interest in joint ventures for which deferred tax liabilities have 
not been recognised are attributable to the following:  

Subsidiaries   – –

  – –

 the Group has no current intention to dispose of these investments, a deferred tax liability has not been recognised 
in relation to investments within the tax-consolidated group. furthermore, temporary differences that might arise on 
disposal of the entities in the tax-consolidated group cannot be reliably measured because of the inherent uncertainties 
surrounding the nature of any future disposal that might occur.

9. trade and other reCeivaBles
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

trade receivables   

third parties (i)  19,843 39,208

other party- Glit group (ii)  36,364 28,088

related Parties (ii)  15,360 16,223

other receivables  1,422 1,945

   

allowance for doubtful debts   (2,125)  (149) 

  70,864 85,315
  

less:    

Payable to other Party- Glit group  (ii)  (4,401) (21,073)

Bills Payable (i)  (759) (7,129)

trust receipts related to other party- Glit group (ii)  (33,018) (30,662)

trust receipts related to related Parties (ii)   (1,420) (3,669)

  31,266 22,782

Goods and services tax recoverable  47 37

  31,313 22,819
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

9. trade and other reCeivaBles (cont’d)

(i)    third parties offset: When GlG receives an order from a customer, it either receives a letter of credit or an open account for the 
customer.  upon completion of the order, GlG converts this letter of credit or open account into a bill payable with a bank.  GlG will 
then use the cash to pay its creditors.  When the letter of credit matures or the customer pays off the open account, the bank will 
offset funds from the third party trade receivable against bills payable.

(ii) other party- Glit Group and related Parties offsets: Presently, and reflected in the Statement of financial Position at 30 June 2011, 
when other Party-Glit Group buys fabric from textile mills GlG issues a letter of credit on their behalf.  in order to maximize the 
discounts available, GlG converts for the letter of credit it has issued into a trust receipt. 

 the bank will immediately pay the textile mill. after completion of the apparel order, other Party- Glit invoices GlG and a trade 
payable is recorded. GlG immediately has a legally enforceable right to offset the amount owed against the  other Party- Glit and 
settle the balance, if any, with other Party- Glit on a net basis. 

 the offset takes place between 90 days to 120 days depending on the date of maturity of the trust receipt.  a similar offset 
arrangement has been made with related Parties transactions.

refer also to note 10 (i) for details of the Ghim li Group Pte ltd guarantee issued in respect of the other party-Glit Group receivable.

the average credit period on sales of goods and rendering of services is 60 days. no interest is charged on the trade receivables 
outstanding balance. 

Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses an external scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and 
defines credit limits by customers. limits and scoring attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year.  80% of the trade receivables that 
are neither past due nor impaired have the best credit scoring attributable under the external credit scoring system used by the Group. 
of the trade receivables balance at the end of the year, $12.5 million (2010: $9.1 million) is due from Macy the Group’s largest customer.

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

age of receivables past due, but not impaired  

60  – 90 days  13 1,152

90 – 120 days  53 13

More than 120 days  2,286 339

total  2,352 1,504

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
Balance at the beginning of the year  328 2,947

allowance made during the year  2,023 –

reversal of impairment - Glit  – (2,500)

reversal of provision for doubtful debts  (179) (119)

Balance at the end of the year *  2,172 328

*  includes the provision for doubtful debts for trade receivables and other financial assets.

 in determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 
receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. the concentration of credit risk is limited due 
to the customer base being large and unrelated. accordingly, the directors believe that there is no further credit provision 
required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.  F
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

10. other finanCial assets

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

loans carried at amortised cost (i):   

current   

trade receivables – other Party  Glit group (i)(a)  – –

total current other financial assets  – –

non-current   
loans and receivables – other Party  Glit group (i)(a)(b)  16,236 18,200

loans and  receivables – third parties (ii)  368 179

  16,604 18,379

Provision for non-repayment  (47) (179)

total non current other financial assets  16,557 18,200

(i)  the loans owed by other Party – Glit Group consists of two amounts: 
(a)  uS$2,040 thousand  (fy2010: uS$1,802) which is the equivalent of a SG$5,000 thousand denominated receivable repayable over a 

period of 48 months at a fixed interest rate of 5.00% p.a. commencing June 2009.
(b)  uS$16,236 thousand (fy2010:uS$18,200) is payable over a period of 48 (fy2010:48) months at a fixed interest rate of 5% p.a. 

commencing 1 July 2010.

Ghim li Group Pte ltd has guaranteed the repayment of both amounts in the current and non-current receivables owing by other 
Party – Glit to GlG corp in the event of a default by other Party – Glit.  this guarantee is in the form of three undertakings.  the first, 
committed Ghim li Group Pte ltd to return the proceeds from any sale of GlG corp ltd shares by Ghim li Group Pte ltd to GlG corp 
ltd for the outstanding receivables owed by other Party – Glit.  the second requires Glit holdings to pledge proceeds from the sale of 
a factory held by Glit holdings to GlG corp ltd.   the third requires estina ang Suan hong, the executive chairman/ceo of GlG corp to 
commit to a personal pledge of uS$10 million.
(ii)  the long term trade receivable owed by third party has for a provision for non recovery in fy2011 of uS$47 thousand (fy2010: 

uS$179 thousand).

11. investments aCCounted for usinG the equity method

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

investments in jointly controlled entities  – –

   

reconciliation of movement in investments accounted for using the equity method   

Balance at the beginning of financial year  – 39

Share of losses for the year  – (39)

  – –

additions     –   –

Balance at end of financial year  – –

    ownership interest
  Country of  2011 2010
 name of entity incorporation principal activity us$’000  us$’000

 Jointly controlled entities
 Jes apparel llC uSa importer of knitwear products  51 51
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11. investments aCCounted for usinG the equity method (cont’d)

 Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s jointly controlled entity is set out below:

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

financial position:   
current assets  777 2,005
current liabilities  2,044 1,814
net assets  (1,267) 191
Group’s share of jointly controlled entity’s net assets  (646) 98 

financial performance:   
income  4,746 10,303
expenses  (5,978) (10,396)
total loss for investment in joint venture  (1,232) (93)

Group’s share of jointly controlled entity’s losses  (628) (47)

 the entity’s unrecognised share of losses for the period is uS$628 thousand (2010:  uS$8 thousand).  the entity’s cumulative 
unrecognised share of losses is uS$636 thousand (2010: uS$8 thousand).

12.    property, plant and equipment 
 Consolidated

 leasehold plant & furniture motor 
 improvement machinery fittings and office vehicles 
 at cost at cost equipment at cost at cost total
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

Gross carrying amount      
Balance at 1 July 2009 276 85 3,657 185 4,203                               
additions – – 289 183 472
disposals (267) – (10) (191) (468)

Balance at 1 July 2010 9 85 3,936 177 4,207
additions 76 18 209 309 613
disposals – (17) (16) – (33)
      
Balance at 30 June 2011 85 86 4,129 486 4,787

accumulated depreciation/ 
amortisation and impairment      

Balance at 1 July 2009 190 61 2,749 168 3,168
disposals (190) – (10) (190) (390)
depreciation expense 6 8 327 38 379

     
Balance at 1 July  2010 6 69 3,066 16 3,157
disposals – (17) (15) – (32)
depreciation expense 8 8 292 79 387
Balance at 30 June 2011 14 60 3,343 95 3,512

     
net book value     
as at 30 June 2010 3 16 870 161        1,050

as at 30 June  2011 71 26 786 391        1,274

 there was no depreciation during the year that was capitalised as part of the cost of other assets. 
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13. other assets

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Current   
Prepayments  235 226

14. trade and other payaBles

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

trade payables (i)  267 1,119

other payables  101 –

related parties  – 43

accruals  2,945 3,870

  3,313 5,032

(i)   the average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 4 months.  no interest is charged on the outstanding balance of trade 
payables.  the Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit time frame.

15. BorrowinGs

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

secured – at amortised cost   

current   

Bank overdraft  142 9

Bank loans (i) (ii)    1,040 982

trust receipts (Gross)  (i) (iii)  49,273 34,331

Bills payable (Gross) (iv)  759 7,129

finance lease liabilities   152 90 

  51,366 42,541
less trust receipt – offsettable  (34,438) (34,331)

less Bill payable-offsettable  (759)       (7,129)      

total current borrowings  16,169 1,081

   

non-current   

Bank loans (i) (ii)   1,000 1,802

finance lease liabilities   460 203

total non-current borrowings  1,460 2,005

   

disclosed in the financial statements as:   

current borrowings  16,169 1,081

non-current borrowings  1,460 2,005

  17,629 3,086
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15. BorrowinGs (cont’d)

Summary of borrowing arrangements:
(i) Secured by corporate guarantee from Ghim li Group Pte ltd and negative pledge over all assets of  Ghim li Global Pte ltd.
(ii) the non current borrowings consist of a term loan of uS$2,040 thousand (2010: uS$2,784 thousand) which is repayable by a 

reducing balance method of 48 monthly average installments of uS$115 thousand (30 June 2010: uS$115 thousand). the average 
effective interest rate charge is 5% per annum. 

(iii) trust receipts offsettable uS$34,438 thousand (30 June 2010: uS$34,331 thousand). See note 9.    
(iv) Bills payable offsettable uS$759 thousand (30 June 2010: uS$7,129 thousand). See note 9. 
(v) Banking relationship: the Group is dependent on bank facilities to support the working capital requirement of its operations.  

Presently, the bank facilities provided to the Group are uncommitted short term trade financing facilities which are renewable 
annually by the banks.  at 30 June 2011 GlG corp ltd had financing facilities available of uS$108.5 million (uS$72.6 million was 
used and uS$35.9 million is unused). this is compared with uS$105.5 million at 30 June 2010 (uS$58.1 million was used and uS$47.2 
million was unused).  GlG continued to have the strong support of its core banking relationship for its working capital requirements.  
GlG has largely completed the sourcing of additional bank facilities from Singapore based banks if there is a need to replace 
facilities from banks who because of capital and credit risk constraints, may limit or suspend their corporate lending business.

 the weighted average effective interest rates for bank overdrafts, bills payable and trust receipts at the balance sheet date 
were as follows:

  2011 2010

Bank overdrafts  uS prime rate uS prime rate

Bank loans   5.02% p.a. 6.82% p.a.

trust receipts /Bills payable   1.60% -2.25% 1.60% -2.75%

finance lease liabilities  4.94% p.a. 5.20% p.a.

16. issued Capital

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

74,100,000 (2010: 74,100,000) fully paid ordinary shares  10,322 10,322

 changes to the then corporations law abolished the authorised capital and par value concept in relation to share 
capital from 1 July 1998.  therefore, the company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital and issued 
shares do not have a par value.

 Consolidated
 no. 2011 no. 2010
 ’000 us$’000 ’000  us$’000

fully paid ordinary shares     

Balance at beginning of financial year 74,100 10,322 74,100 10,322

Balance at end of financial year 74,100 10,322 74,100 10,322
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17. reserves

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

financial guarantees reserve  – –

  – –

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

financial guarantees reserve   

Balance at beginning of financial year  – 3

financial guarantees fee recognition  – (3)

Balance at end of financial year  – –

18.   retained earninGs

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Balance at beginning of financial year  24,755 16,835

net profit attributable to members of the parent entity  2,705 7,920

Balance at end of financial year  27,460 24,755

19. earninGs per share

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  Cents per Cents per
  share  share

Basic earnings per share:    
total basic earnings per share  3.65 10.69

diluted earnings per share:     
total diluted earnings per share  3.65 10.69

 Basic earnings per share 

 the earnings and weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic earnings per share are as 
follows:

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

net profit  2,705 7,920

earnings used in the calculation of basic ePS   2,705 7,920
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for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

19. earninGs per share (cont’d)

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  no. ’000  no. ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes   74,100 74,100

of basic earnings per share

 diluted earnings per share

  the earnings used in the calculation of diluted earnings per share is as follows:

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

net profit  2,705 7,920

earnings used in the calculation of diluted ePS   2,705 7,920

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  no. ’000  no. ’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used   
in the calculation of basic ePS  74,100 74,100

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used   
in the calculation of diluted ePS  74,100 74,100

20. dividends

 2011 2010
 Cents per total Cents per total
 share us$’000 share  us$’000

recognised amounts     

fully paid ordinary shares     

Proposed final fully unfranked ordinary dividend  – – – –

 unrecognised amounts

  in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011, the directors do not recommend the payment of dividend.

21. Commitments for expenditure

 lease commitments

  finance lease liabilities and non-cancelable operating lease commitments are disclosed in note 23 to the financial 
statements.F
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22. ContinGent liaBilities

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Guarantees in lieu of commercial and statutory cash deposits (i)  2,962 2,578

Guarantees arising from letters of credit in force (ii)  21,267 12,819

total   24,229 15,397

(i) the amount disclosed represents the Group of the contingent liabilities to the premises rental. the extent to which an outflow of 
funds will be required is dependent on the future operations of the Group being more or less favourable than currently expected.

(ii) a number of contingent liabilities have arisen as a result of the Group’s letter of credit issued by banks for purchase of goods on 
behalf of the former related companies and related party. 

23.     leases

 finance lease liabilities

 leasing arrangement

 the Group leases motor vehicles and office equipment under finance leases expiring from one to five years. all the leases 
involve lease payments of a fixed base amount. no contingent rentals were paid during the year (2010: nil)

 minimum future present value of 
 lease payments minimum lease payments
 Consolidated Consolidated
 2011 2010 2011 2010
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

recognised amounts     

no later than 1 year 176 105 152 90

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 427 223 394 203

later than 5 years 74 – 66 –

Minimum future lease payments * 677 328 612 293

less future finance charges (65) (35) – –

present value of minimum lease payments 612 293 612 293
included in the financial statements as (note 15)  

current borrowings    152 90

non-current borrowings    460 203

   612 293

*  Minimum future lease payments includes the aggregate of all lease payments and any guaranteed residual.

 operating leases

 leasing arrangement

 the Group leases property under operating leases expiring from one to five years. leases generally provide the Group with 
a right of renewal, at which time all terms are renegotiated. operating leases for rental of office and warehouse will increase 
every 3 years at the rate of 9%. no contingent rentals were paid during the year (2010: nil). note 7 shows the expense 
recognised in the income statement in respect of operating leases. renewals are at the option of the specific entity that 
holds the lease.
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23.     leases (cont’d)

 operating leases (cont’d)

 non-cancellable operating lease payments

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

not longer than 1 year    1,674   1,367

longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years      2,004     3,123

longer than 5 years  – –

    3,678   4,490

24.  suBsidiaries
    ownership interest
   2011 2010
 name of subsidiary Country of incorporation % %

 Ghim li Global Pte ltd  Singapore 100 100

 Ghim li Global international ltd hong Kong 100 100

 escala fashion Pte. ltd. Singapore 100 100

 Ghim li international (S) Pte ltd Singapore 100 100

25. disposal of suBsidiary

 on 21 december 2009, GlG corp ltd disposed of escala Guatemala S.a.  the proceeds on disposal of uS$1,950 thousand 
were received in cash. 

 the profit/(loss) for the period from the discontinued operation is anlaysed as follows. 

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

revenue   – –

operating expenses  – –

profit before income tax  – –
income tax expense/(credit)  – –

profit after tax  – –
   

net assets disposed  of   – 1,950

  – 1,950

Gain on disposal  – –
total consideration  – 1,950

satisfied by cash, and net cash inflow arising on disposal  – 1,950

 no gain was recognized on the disposal of escala Guatemala S.a.  no tax charge or credit arose on the transaction.
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26. notes to the Cash flow statement

 (a)    reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents    

 for the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the financial year as shown in the cash flow statement is reconciled to the related items in the balance sheet as 
follows:

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

cash and cash equivalents   10,439 2,031

  10,439 2,031

 (b)    financing facilities    

unsecured bank overdraft facility, reviewed annually and payable at call:

•		Amount	used	 	 –	 –

•		Amount	unused	 	 150	 –

  150 –

 Secured bank loan facilities with various maturity dates and which may be extended by mutual agreement:

•		Amount	used	 	 	72,579	 58,117

•		Amount	unused	 	 35,960	 47,364

  108,539 105,481

 (c)    reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities    

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Profit for the year   2,705 7,920

Gain on sale or disposal of non-current assets  (3) (345)

impairment expense  2,000 –

reversal of impairment  – (2,500) 

depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets  387 380

Provision for doubtful debt  – 10

Share of losses of jointly controlled entities  – 39

non-cash movements in financial guarantee liabilities and   – (3)

 equity settled share-based payment 

non-cash dividends received    

increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liabilities   – –

interest expenses  781 1,021 F
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26. notes to the Cash flow statement (cont’d)

 (c)    reconciliation of profit for the year to net cash flows from operating activities (cont’d)  

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

Changes in net assets and liabilities, net of effects from 
acquisition and disposal of businesses:   

(increase)/decrease in assets:    

inventories  (14) 35

trade and other receivables  21,559 3,220

other assets  (8) 128

increase/(decrease) in liabilities:    

trade and other payables  (1, 719) 2,244

other liabilities  – –

net cash from operating activities  25,668 12,149

27.  finanCial instruments

 (a) Capital risk management

  the Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while 
maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. the Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from 2010.

  the capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in note 15, cash and 
cash equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued capital, reserves and 
retained earnings as disclosed in notes 16, 17 and 18 respectively. in addition, trust receipts are utilized as disclosed 
in note 9 in managing the capital of the Group. 

  operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the group’s assets, as well as to make the routine outflows 
of tax and repayment of maturing debt. the Group’s policy is to borrow centrally, using a variety of capital market 
issues and borrowing facilities, to meet anticipated funding requirements.

  Gearing ratio

  an integral function of the Group’s Board is risk management. the Board reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. as part of this review the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class 
of capital. the Group’s gearing is managed internally to meet industry norms. GlG corp ltd, as disclosed in earlier 
notes 9 and 15, has the ability to offset trust receipts with receivables due to the nature of their operations, which 
has the effect of reducing apparent debt levels. the operation of the trust receipts is detailed in note 9. Based on 
recommendations of the Board the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends 
as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.F
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27.  finanCial instruments (cont’d)

 (a) Capital risk management (cont’d)

  the gearing ratio at year end was as follows:
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

debt (i)  17,629 3,086

cash and cash equivalents  (10,439) (2,031)

net debt  7,190 1,055

equity (ii)  37,782 35,077

net debt to equity ratio  19.03% 3.01%

(i)  debt is defined as long-term and short-term borrowings, as detailed in note 15.
(ii) equity includes all capital and reserves.

 (b) Categories of financial instruments
 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

financial assets    
loans and receivables  47,870 41,017

cash and cash equivalents  10,439 2,031

financial liabilities    
amortised cost  20,942 8,118

 (c) financial risk management objectives

  the Group co-ordinates access to domestic and international financial markets, and manages the financial risks 
relating to the operations of the consolidated entity.

  the Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes. the use of financial derivatives is governed by the consolidated entity’s policies approved by 
the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives. compliance with policies 
and exposure limits is reviewed by the internal auditors on a continuous basis.

  the Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and 
interest rates. the Group minimises its financial risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rate through the natural 
hedge of matching its revenues and purchases in uS dollars and matching of its assets and liabilities in uS dollars.

 (d) foreign currency risk management 

  the Group minimises its financial risk of changes in foreign currency exchange rate through the natural hedge of 
matching a significant portion of its revenues and purchases in uS dollars and matching a significant portion of its 
assets and liabilities in uS dollars. the Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies, 
hence exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. exchange rate exposures are managed within approved policy 
parameters utilising forward foreign exchange contracts.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

27.  finanCial instruments (cont’d)

 (d) foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

 the carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date is as follows:

 liabilities assets

 2011 2010 2011 2010
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

Singapore dollars 3,116 3,054 888 779

hong Kong dollars 89 32 123 45

other 270 143 78 182

 3,475 3,229 1,089 1,006

 the carrying amount of the company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at 
the reporting date is as follows:

 liabilities assets

 2011 2010 2011 2010
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

Singapore dollars – – – –

other 130 123 38 121

 130 123 38 121

 foreign currency sensitivity analysis

 the Group is mainly exposed to movements in the value of Singapore dollars and hong Kong dollars compared to the 
uS dollar.

 the following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the united States dollar against 
the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to 
key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange 
rates. the sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts 
their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. the sensitivity analysis includes 
external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of the loan is in a 
currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. a positive number indicates an increase in profit 
or loss where the united States dollars strengthens against the respective currency. for a weakening of the united 
States dollars against the respective currency there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit, and the 
balances below would be negative.

 singapore dollars hong kong dollars other foreign Currecy
 impact impact  impact

 Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000 us$’000

Profit or loss 446 455 (7) (3) 39 (9)
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

27.  finanCial instruments (cont’d)

 (d) foreign currency risk management (cont’d)

 interest rate risk management

 the Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. 
the risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings. 
hedging activities are evaluated regularly to align with interest rate views and define risk appetite; ensuring optimal 
hedging strategies are applied, by either positioning the balance sheet or protecting interest expense through 
different interest rate cycles. 

 the Group’s exposure to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk 
management section of this note.

 interest rate sensitivity analysis

 the sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rate’s for both derivative 
and non-derivative instruments at the reporting date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning 
of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. a 50 basis point increase or decrease 
is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s 
assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

 at reporting date, if interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, 
the Group’s:

•	 net	profit	would	 increase	by	$52	thousand	and	decrease	by	$11	thousand	(2010:	 increase	by	$10	thousand	and	
decrease by $15 thousand). this is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate 
borrowings.

 (f ) Credit risk management

  credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group. the Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient 
collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. the Group exposure 
and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions 
concluded are spread amongst approved counterparties. credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that 
are reviewed and approved by the audit committee annually. the Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis

  trade accounts receivable consist of a number of retail customers located in the united States of america. ongoing 
credit evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable and, where appropriate, trading within 
the credit limits or discounting of receivables on non-recourse basis with credit acceptance or insurance in place.

  the consolidated entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of 
counterparties having similar characteristics except to the Glit receivable as disclosed in note 10. this is supported 
by the guarantees in note 10.  the credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because 
the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

  the carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the consolidated entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any 
collateral obtained.

  the company also faces risks of orders cancellation. this is related to fabric, accessories and manufacturing cost incurred 
on orders cancelled prior to shipment. the company is now exploring credit insurance to cover this risk as well.
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

27.  finanCial instruments (cont’d)

 (g) liquidity risk management

  the consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve 
borrowing facilities by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles 
of financial assets and liabilities. included in note 26(b) is a listing of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has 
at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

 liquidity and interest risk tables

 the following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities and 
expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. the tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted 
cash flows of financial assets and liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to 
receive/pay. the table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

  weighted
  average effective less than 1-3 3 months
  interest rate 1 month months to 1 years 1-5 years 5+ years
 Consolidated % s$’000 s$’000 s$’000 s$’000 s$’000

2010      
financial assets      
interest bearing  – – – – – –

non-interest bearing – 2,031 39,912 1,504 – 18,200 

financial liabilities      
non-interest bearing  – 5,032 – – – –

finance lease liability  5.20% 8 24 58 203 –

fixed interest rate instruments- 6.82% 98 297 587 1,802 –
bank loan (uoB & ifS)      

      
2011      
financial assets      
interest bearing  – – – – – –

non-interest bearing – 10,439 19,196 2,352 – 16,557

financial liabilities      
non-interest bearing  – 3,313 – – – –

finance lease liability  4.94% 13 39 100 460 –

fixed interest rate instruments- 5.02% 97 260 683 1,000 –
bank loan (uoB)

 the variable interest rates were as follows:

  2011 2010

(i)   other receivables SiBor + 1% SiBor + 1%

(ii)  Bank loans  5.02% p.a. 6.82%

(iii) finance lease liabilities  4.94%p.a 5.20%p.a

(iv)  trust receipts   1.60% -2.25% 1.60% -2.75%
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

27.  finanCial instruments (cont’d)

 (h) fair value of financial instruments

  the directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements approximates their fair values. 

  the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

	 •	 the	fair	value	of	financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	with	standard	terms	and	conditions	and	traded	on	active	
liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices.

28. key manaGement personnel Compensation

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$  us$

Short-term employee benefits  1,243,899 1,138,598

Post-employment benefits  41,915 39,518

  1,285,814 1,178,116

 the compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the Group is set out in the director’s report:

 (a) key management personnel compensation policy 

  in relation to senior management the nomination and remuneration committee reviews remuneration policies 
and practices and makes recommendations to the Board regarding their approval.  in relation to the executive 
chairman, chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, the nomination and remuneration committee 
determines and makes recommendations to the Board on remuneration packages and other terms of employment 
having regard to the need to attract, retain and develop appropriately skilled people.  remuneration of the senior 
management team is reviewed on an annual basis having regard to personal and corporate performance and 
relevant comparative information.  

  the remuneration of non-executive directors may not exceed in aggregate in any financial period the amount 
fixed by the company at the general meeting.  each executive director of the company has entered into a service 
agreement with Ghim li Global Pte ltd.  they are not remunerated separately for being a director or executive 
of the company or other operating entities.  each executive director receives a salary per annum.  they may also 
be entitled to an annual bonus determined by the nomination and remuneration committee, in its absolute 
discretion.  each key management personnel also receives a salary per annum and may also be entitled to an annual 
bonus determined by the chief executive officer or the chairman, reviewed by the nomination and remuneration 
committee, and approved by the Board at the Board’s absolute discretion. 
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

28. key manaGement personnel Compensation (cont’d)

 (a) key management personnel compensation policy (cont’d)

  details of key management personnel 

   the directors of GlG corp ltd during the year were:

•	 Estina	Ang	Suan	Hong	(Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

•	 Samuel	Scott	Weiss	(Non-executive Deputy Chairman and Independent Director, resigned on 3 March 2011)) 

•	 Surina	Gan	Meng	Hui	(Director) (appointed on 11 January 2010)

•	 Christopher	Chong	Meng	Tak	(Independent Director)

•	 Ernest	Seow	Teng	Peng	(Independent Director)

•	 Yong	Yin	Min	(Director)

•	 Thongviboon (Independent Director, appointed on 3 March 2011)

  other key management personnel of GlG corp ltd during the year were:

•	 Felicia	Gan	Peiling	(Senior Vice President – Retail)

•	 Alice	Chong	(CFO - resigned on 30 April 2011)

•	 Kang	Eng	Chuan	(Financial Controller)

 no director or senior management person appointed during the period received a payment as part of his or her 
consideration for agreeing to hold the position.

29. related party transaCtions 

 (a)       equity interests in subsidiaries

  details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements 

 (b)      transactions with key management personnel

       (i)    key management personnel remuneration

         details of key management personnel remuneration are disclosed in note 28 to the financial statements.

 Key management personnel equity holdings 

 fully paid ordinary shares of GlG corp ltd

    Balance
 Balance Granted as net other at resignation Balance
 at 1 July 10 compensation change date at cost as 30 June 11
 no. no. no. no. no.

2011     

estina ang Suan hong 54,560,003 – – – 54,560,003

Samuel Scott Weiss * 119,999 – – 119,999 n/a

christopher chong Meng tak 160,007 – – – 160,007

ernest Seow teng Peng 99,999 – – – 99,999
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NOTES TO THE fiNANCiAl STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 30 June 2011

29. related party transaCtions (cont’d)

    Balance
 Balance Granted as net other at resignation Balance
 at 1 July 10 compensation change date at cost as 30 June 11
 no. no. no. no. no.

2010     

estina ang Suan hong 54,560,003 – – – 54,560,003

Samuel Scott Weiss  119,999 – – – 119,999

eu Mun leong ** 116,000 – – 116,000 n/a

christopher chong Meng tak 160,007 – – – 160,007

ernest Seow teng Peng 99,999 – – – 99,999

*   Sam Weiss resigned 3 March 2011
**   eu Mun  leong resigned 11 January 2010

 (c) transactions with other related parties

  other related parties include:

•	 the	parent	entity,	GLG	Group	Ltd;

•	 JES	Apparel	LLC	

•	 subsidiaries	of	the	group;	and

•	 key	management	personnel	of	Ghim	Li	Group	Pte	Ltd.

  no amounts were provided for doubtful debts relating to debts due from related parties at reporting date. 

  amounts receivable from and payable to these related parties are disclosed in note 10 to the financial statements. 

  transactions involving other related parties

 (d) parent entities

  the parent entity in the Group is GlG corp ltd. GlG corp ltd’s parent entity and the ultimate parent entity is Ghim 
li Group Pte ltd. Ghim li Group Pte ltd is incorporated in Singapore.

  Chairman – estina ang suan hong

  the major shareholder and chairman has personally undertake to guarantee the repayment of other party Glit 
receivable of uS$10 million as disclosed in note 10.  

  in addition GlG has a director loan from the chairman of uS$40 thousand in financial year 2011 with a payable at 30 
June 2011 of uS$40 thousand.F
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30.     eConomiC dependenCy

 the consolidated entity is sourcing its apparel manufacturing requirements mainly from the Glit entities. the economic 
dependency of this arrangement is protected by the long term contracts between the Glit entities and the consolidated 
entity which has first right of refusal for the production capacity of the Glit entities. 

31. remuneration of auditors

 Consolidated
  2011 2010
  us$  us$

auditor of the parent entity   

audit or review of the financial report  93,819 203,791

tax services  5,644 4,468

other non- audit services  – –

  99,463 208,259

related  practice of the parent entity auditor   
audit or review of the subsidiaries  308,369 350,218

Preparation of the tax return of subsidiaries  13,331 116,844

  321,700 467,062

 
 the auditor of GLG Corp Ltd is deloitte touche tohmatsu.

 the related practices are deloitte & touche Singapore, deloitte & touche hong Kong, dominguez of asociados

32. parent entity disClosures

 Financial position
  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

assets    
current assets  838 925
non-current assets  30,000 30,000

total assets  30,838 30,925

    
liabilities    
current liabilities  1,767 1,329
non-current liabilities  42 20

total liabilities  1,809 1,349

    
equity    
issued capital  53,552 53,552
accumulated losses  (24,523) (23,976)

total equity  29,029 29,576F
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32. parent entity disClosures (cont’d)

 Financial performance

  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

loss for the year  (547) (209)
other comprehensive income  – –

total comprehensive income  (547) (209)

 Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 

  2011 2010
  us$’000  us$’000

corporate guarantee for its subsidiaries  – –
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numBer of holders of equity seCurities

ordinary share capital

74,100,000 fully paid ordinary shares are held by 510 individual shareholders. 

all issued ordinary shares carry one vote per share.

distriBution of holders of equity seCurities

range   securities % no of holders %

100,001 and over 71,200,193 96.09 25 5.21

10,001 to 100,000 1,827,157 2.47 46 9.58

5,001 to 10,000 251,790 0.34 28 5.83

1,001 to 5,000 813,210 1.10 370 77.08

1 to 1,000  7,650 0.01 11 2.29

total   74,100,000 100.00 480 100.00

unmarketable Parcels 680,200 0.92 349 72.71

suBstantial shareholders
the names of the substantial shareholders listed in the GlG corp ltd register as at 22 august 2011 were:

 fully paid ordinary shares
ordinary shareholders number percentage

estina Suan hong ang 54,560,003 73.63%

Mr yoke Min Pang 8,304,751 11.21%

 62,864,754 84.84%
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twenty larGest holders of quoted equity seCurities 

range   securities % no of holders %

Ghim li Group Pte ltd 50,116,003 67.63% – –

Mr yoke Min Pang  5,404,751 7.29% – –

hSBc custody nominees (australia) limited 4,304,900 5.81% – –

Ghim li capital 2 Pte ltd 2,222,000 3.00% – –

Ghim li capital 1 Pte ltd 2,222,000 3.00% – –

ngui choon Ming 1,798,000 2.43% – –

Mr ah yian au 1,322,957 1.79% – –

Gowing Bros limited 830,903 1.12% – –

Gwynvill trading Pty limited 450,000 0.61% – –

dixson trust Pty limited 330,000 0.45% – –

Markess trustee limited 250,000 0.34% – –

Mr Gerald rancis Pauley & Mr Michael James  226,500 0.31% – –

Kam hing Piece Works ltd 206,010 0.28% – –

Mr Makram hanna & Mrs rita hanna 205,000 0.28% – –

ang leong aik 200,000 0.27% – –

national nominees limited 185,953 0.25% – – 

Mr robert thomas Bishop  156,000 0.21% – –

chean Moy Seng 150,000 0.20% – –

Milton yannis 139,617 0.19% – –

uoB Kay hian Ptrivate limited 133,600 0.18% – –

   70,854,194 95.64% – –
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cautionary Statement

Some statements contained in this annual report are not of historical facts but are statements of future expectation with respect to financial conditions, 
results of operations and business, and related plans and objectives. Such forward-looking statements are based on GLG Corp Ltd’s current views and 
assumptions including but not limited to, prevailing economic and market conditions and currently available information. These statements involve 
known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the forward-

looking statements. It should be noted that the actual performance or achievements of GLG Corp Ltd may vary significantly from such statements.
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